

“Decolonizing Peace: Why African Traditions Hold a Key to Lasting Harmony”

Abstract:

Overview: The study on decolonizing peace highlights the critical role of African traditions in fostering lasting harmony by emphasizing indigenous approaches to conflict resolution, community cohesion, and restorative justice.

Body of Knowledge: ~~Decolonizing peace in Africa~~ This article emphasizes the importance of embracing indigenous traditions and cultural practices as foundational elements for fostering lasting harmony sustainable peace in Africa. African traditions, rooted in communal values, restorative justice, and consensus-building, offer sustainable alternatives to Western-centric peace building models, which often overlook the continent's unique social, historical, and cultural contexts.

Methods: The study was conducted in Lusaka district, the capital city of Zambia. The sample consisted 50 respondents research participants. A purposive sampling technique was used to select key informants such as traditional chiefs, peace practitioners, academicians, and policymakers. Moreover, snowball sampling on the other hand helped identify additional participants such as church leaders with relevant insights. The data collection process involved conducting semi-structured interviews and forming focus groups discussions (FGDs) amongst the participants. The collected data collected were analyzed using study themes and content analysis.

Results: The findings revealed that that African traditions, such as Ubuntu and communal consensus-building, foster inclusivity and a shared sense of responsibility, enabling communities to address conflicts collaboratively and restore relationships. Additionally, African peace building frameworks, rooted in collective decision-making, respect for elders, and culturally ingrained reconciliation practices, offer sustainable alternatives to Western-centric models that often overlook local contexts.

Recommendation: Schools, universities, and civil society organizations should promote the communal values to cultivate a generation that prioritizes dialogue, cooperation, and collective well-being over adversarial approaches to conflict resolution.

Keywords: African Traditions, Decolonization, ~~Harmony, Peace building and Sustainability~~ sustainable peace.

1. INTRODUCTION

Decolonizing peace in Africa requires a critical re-examination of dominant Western frameworks that have shaped conflict resolution and governance across the continent Africa. While colonial legacies imposed Eurocentric models of justice and diplomacy, many African societies have long possessed rich traditions of conflict resolution rooted in communal values, dialogue, and

Commented [H1]: Suggestion: Peace.

This is because the focus of the main title is on peace not harmony.

So here it should be lasting peace. I will even prefer the term sustainable peace.

So the suggested title is:

Decolonizing Peace: Why African Traditions Hold a Key to Sustainable Peace in Africa.

Or

Decolonizing Peace in Africa: Why African Traditions Hold a Key to Sustainable Peace.

Commented [H2]: See my comments and suggestion above

Commented [H3]: The term respondents applies more to quantitative studies using questionnaire surveys

Commented [H4]: So you see why I earlier suggested : sustainable peace rather than lasting peace

Commented [H5]: If you accept my earlier suggestion regarding the research topic.

restorative justice (Chitondo et al., 2023). Traditional mechanisms such as the Ubuntu philosophy, palaver systems, and indigenous mediation practices emphasize reconciliation, social cohesion, and collective well-being rather than punitive justice. These approaches offer a more culturally relevant and sustainable pathway to peace building in African societies, particularly in regions where Western legal frameworks have struggled to address deep-seated conflicts. By integrating African traditions into contemporary peace efforts, there is an opportunity to foster solutions that are more inclusive, context-specific, and reflective of local identities. Decolonizing peace, therefore, is not just about reclaiming indigenous practices but also about challenging the structural inequalities that have marginalized African knowledge systems in global peace discourse. Butlin (2009) says that embracing these traditions can pave the way for a more lasting and meaningful harmony, where African societies actively shape their own narratives of justice and reconciliation.

Commented [H6]: Suggestion: local realities?

Chinweuba & Ezeugwu (2018) narrated that African traditions play a crucial role in the discourse on decolonizing peace, offering indigenous approaches to conflict resolution, reconciliation, and social harmony that have been sidelined by colonial legacies. Rooted in communal values, African traditions emphasize restorative rather than punitive justice, fostering dialogue, consensus-building, and the reintegration of offenders into society. Systems such as Ubuntu in Southern Africa, the Gacaca courts in Rwanda, and the Palaver tradition in West Africa illustrate the efficacy of indigenous conflict resolution mechanisms in maintaining long-term sustainable peace in Africa. Unlike Western legal frameworks, which often impose rigid structures, African traditions prioritize inclusivity, mutual respect, and the recognition of interconnectedness within the community (Crumley, 2009a). Furthermore, the spiritual and cultural dimensions of African peace building emphasize respect for ancestors, nature, and collective well-being, reinforcing a holistic approach to conflict resolution. Decolonizing peace requires acknowledging and integrating these indigenous methodologies into modern governance structures and peace processes, thereby restoring agency to African societies and challenging the dominance of Eurocentric models. By embracing African traditions, peace processes can become more culturally relevant, sustainable, and reflective of the lived experiences of African communities.

Commented [H7]: Since the suggested topic speaks more to sustainable peace (though sustainable peace and long term peace can be used interchangeably).

Decolonization, in the context of peace building, refers to the process of dismantling colonial structures, ideologies, and influences that have shaped governance, conflict resolution, and social organization in Africa. African traditions offer a rich repository of conflict resolution mechanisms, such as communal dialogue, restorative justice, and consensus-building, which have historically maintained social harmony (Chanda et al., 2024a). Unlike Western approaches that prioritize legalistic and state-centered peace processes, African traditions emphasize reconciliation, relational healing, and collective responsibility, fostering a more sustainable and culturally resonant form of peace. The decolonization of peace in Africa requires recognizing and integrating these indigenous practices into modern governance and conflict resolution frameworks, ensuring that peace building efforts are not only effective but also rooted in African realities and historical contexts (Happens & Cain, 2016). By reclaiming these traditions, African societies can challenge the legacy of colonialism and promote more inclusive, participatory, human-centered and enduring peace strategies.

Commented [H8]: Good but reference(citation) needed please

Harmony, as a central concept in decolonizing peace, emphasizes the interconnectedness and balance within African traditional systems of conflict resolution and social cohesion. Unlike Western approaches to peace, which often focus on legal frameworks and state-centric interventions, African traditions prioritize harmony through communal dialogue, restorative justice, and consensus building. Rooted in indigenous philosophies such as Ubuntu, these traditions recognize that peace is not merely the absence of violence but the presence of justice, mutual respect, and social equilibrium (Hambulo et al., 2023). Elders and community leaders play a vital role in mediating disputes, ensuring that relationships are mended rather than severed. The emphasis on harmony extends beyond human relationships to include a balanced relationship with nature, reinforcing the holistic worldview that underpins African peace building practices. Decolonizing peace requires reclaiming and integrating these indigenous knowledge systems into contemporary governance structures, challenging Eurocentric paradigms that often marginalize or overlook the effectiveness of African conflict resolution mechanisms. By embracing traditional African models of harmony, societies can foster sustainable peace that is deeply rooted in cultural values and collective well-being (Hogan, 2000).

Peace-building in the context of decolonizing peace emphasizes the need to integrate African traditions and indigenous knowledge systems into contemporary conflict resolution strategies. Colonial legacies have often sidelined or undermined traditional African mechanisms for maintaining harmony, replacing them with Western-centric approaches that may not align with local realities (Chanda & Chisebe, 2024). However, African societies have long possessed rich traditions of mediation, reconciliation, and restorative justice, which prioritize communal consensus and the reintegration of offenders rather than punitive measures. Practices such as Ubuntu in Southern Africa, Mato Oput in Uganda, and Gacaca courts in Rwanda illustrate how African traditions emphasize healing, dialogue, and the restoration of social bonds over adversarial justice. By recognizing and revitalizing these indigenous systems, peace-building efforts can be more culturally relevant, community driven, and sustainable (Holliday, 2012). Decolonizing peace, therefore, requires shifting from externally imposed frameworks to approaches that respect and build upon African ways of resolving conflicts, fostering genuine and lasting harmony within societies.

Sustainability in the context of decolonizing peace emphasizes the need for long-term, self-sustaining approaches to conflict resolution that draw from African traditions and indigenous knowledge systems. Unlike externally imposed peace frameworks that often fail to address the root causes of conflicts, African traditional methods such as restorative justice, community dialogue, and consensus-building offer culturally relevant solutions that ensure lasting harmony (Chitondo et al., 2024). These practices, embedded in values of Ubuntu and communalism, prioritize reconciliation over retribution, allowing societies to heal and prevent the recurrence of violence. Additionally, sustainability in decolonizing peace requires reducing dependency on Western intervention and strengthening local governance structures that promote social cohesion. By reclaiming indigenous peace-building mechanisms and integrating them into contemporary policy frameworks, African nations can establish more resilient and contextually appropriate systems for maintaining stability (Das, 2011). Ultimately, embracing traditional approaches to

Commented [H9]: Repetition

Commented [H10]: Do you therefore mean that Ubuntu promotes positive peace values as oppose to negative peace according to Johan Galtung? If so connect your discussion here to the Peace Science literature related to positive and negative peace by Galtung and others while recognizing its limitations in Africa as these concepts were developed in the western cultural context not African.....

Commented [H11]: Repetition

Commented [H12]: Good! Again, you agree with my suggestion regarding the research topic/title of your research article

Commented [H13]: Repetition

Commented [H14]: Repetition (You have simply been revolving around the same ideas without moving forward with your analysis

Commented [H15]: Somewhat said earlier. See above comment

peace not only ensures sustainability in conflict resolution but also fosters a sense of ownership, agency, and dignity among communities striving for ~~lasting harmony~~ [sustainable peace](#)

1.2 Statement of the problem

The persistent challenges of conflict and instability in Africa highlight the limitations of Western-centric peace building models, which often overlook the continent's rich indigenous traditions of conflict resolution and social harmony. Englebert & Dunn (2013) says that many African societies have long relied on traditional mechanisms such as consensus-building, mediation by elders, restorative justice, and community dialogue to foster reconciliation and sustainable peace. However, colonial legacies and the dominance of Western legal and governance frameworks have marginalized these indigenous approaches, creating a disconnect between formal peace building efforts and local realities. Hence, this study sought to explore how integrating African traditions into modern peace building strategies can enhance their effectiveness, foster inclusivity, and ensure culturally relevant conflict resolution processes. By decolonizing peace and embracing indigenous knowledge systems, Africa can reclaim its agency in shaping sustainable peace initiatives that resonate with its historical and social ~~contexts~~ [realities](#). Understanding the role of African traditions in fostering lasting harmony is crucial for developing context-specific solutions that address the root causes of conflict and promote long-term stability (Head et al., 2010).

1.3 Objectives of the Study

- To examine the role of African traditional values, practices, and belief systems in fostering [sustainable peace](#) ~~and harmony within~~ African societies.
- To assess the potential of integrating African traditions with contemporary peace building frameworks to ~~create~~ [enable](#) sustainable solutions for conflict resolution in modern African contexts.

1.4 Theoretical Framework

The study was guided by the “Ubuntu Philosophy Theory”. Ubuntu philosophy, rooted in African traditions, offers a profound framework for understanding peace and social harmony through a collective and interconnected worldview. Ubuntu, often expressed in the phrase “I am because we are,” emphasizes the interdependence of all people and the importance of community, mutual respect, and shared humanity. This philosophy challenges individualistic Western perspectives (~~“you are because I am”~~), advocating for a model where human dignity, compassion, and solidarity are paramount. In the context of decolonizing peace, Ubuntu provides a pathway to healing historical wounds caused by colonialism, as it fosters an inclusive environment where dialogue, reconciliation, and collective efforts replace division and conflict. Hambulo et al (2023b) in their study, narrated that by embracing Ubuntu, African societies can reclaim their indigenous approaches to conflict resolution, promoting sustainable peace grounded in cultural heritage and communal values. This philosophy calls for recognizing the dignity of others, prioritizing the common good over personal gain, and cultivating harmonious relationships that transcend societal divides, offering hope for lasting peace in post-colonial Africa.

1.5 Significance of the Study

The study's significance lies in its potential to challenge and expand current approaches to peace building by highlighting the often-overlooked value of African traditional conflict resolution methods. It explores how indigenous knowledge systems, which emphasize communalism, restorative justice, and reconciliation, can offer sustainable solutions to contemporary conflicts [in Africa](#). By examining these traditional practices, the study seeks to decolonize peace building frameworks that have largely been influenced by Western ideologies, and instead, propose an African-centered approach that is deeply rooted in cultural contexts. This research is crucial for promoting long-term peace in Africa, as it advocates for a return to the continent's rich heritage of collective healing and dialogue, offering a more inclusive and culturally relevant path toward lasting harmony and [sustainable](#) conflict resolution.

2. METHODOLOGY

The study adopted a qualitative research design, specifically a phenomenological and ethnographic approaches. The phenomenological [aspect-approach](#) explored lived experiences of African communities in conflict resolution, while the ethnographic approach involved in-depth engagement with cultural peace practices. The study was conducted within Lusaka district of Zambia in four selected communities. The sample consisted 50 [respondents](#)~~research participants~~; 10% of the target population 500. A purposive sampling technique was used to select key informants such as traditional chiefs, peace practitioners, academics, and policymakers. [In addition](#), ~~s~~[Snowball sampling](#) ~~on the other hand~~ helped identify additional participants such as church leaders with relevant insights. The data collection process involved conducting semi-structured interviews with traditional leaders, elders, mediators, and community members who have participated in indigenous peace building. Additionally, [focus group discussions](#) ~~were organized-conducted~~ with selected participants from different ethnic groups [to understand their perspectives on indigenous peace mechanisms](#). Also, the primary data was complimented by the secondary data which was derived from document analysis and case studies. The data collected were analyzed using [themes](#). [For Ethical reasons](#), ~~t~~[The study avoided pressuring respondents](#) ~~research participants~~ to take part in the research [process](#). Alternatively, [permission consents](#), [assents](#) were obtained from respondents involved in the research and the research topic was strategically selected to ensure that there was no harm whatsoever to the research respondents. The study also upheld research ethical considerations such as voluntary participation of the respondents, confidentiality, honesty, and right of privacy.

Commented [H16]: What is the timeframe of the data collection, e.g 2 months, from January 03-March 03 2024).

Commented [H17]: Not clear

Commented [H18]: Please mention the number of focus group discussions conducted (e.g 2, 3) and also mention clearly, the groups involved and the approximate number of participants present (e.g 8-12 persons)

Commented [H19]: How is this objective different from the objective of conducting semi-structured interviews? Please you need to clearly mention the added value of using a particular data collection technique such as FGDs

Commented [H20]: Only? No more content analysis as well? , as mentioned in your abstract? Why not also consider the use of Word verbatim? (direct quotes)

Commented [H21]: Not clear. Did you mean : The consent of the research participants was obtained?

3. FINDINGS AND DISCUSSIONS

3.1 The Role of African Traditional Values, Practices, and Belief Systems in Fostering Peace and Harmony [within](#) African Societies

According to research findings, the role of African traditional values, practices, and belief systems in fostering peace and harmony [within-in](#) African societies, play a crucial role in fostering societal cohesion and lasting peace by addressing conflicts at their roots and promoting

reconciliation. These mechanisms are deeply embedded in cultural traditions and local governance systems, making them more effective and sustainable in many communities. The study identified Conflict Resolution to be at 25%, Social harmony at 20%, Communal Dialogue at 15%, Long-term stability at 12%, Restorative Justice at 10%, Cultural resilience and lastly, Participatory decision-making was at 8%. Figure 1 below summarizes these findings;

Commented [H22]: Remember you mentioned that your study adopted a qualitative approach but now with all these statistics, it begin to pose some concerns. Maybe your study adopted a mixed research approach (both qualitative and quantitative)



Figure1: The Role of African Traditional Values, Practices, and Belief Systems in Fostering Peace and Harmony within African Societies

The study results findings of the study revealed that African traditional values, practices, and belief systems play a crucial role in conflict resolution by preventing recurring disputes and fostering long-term peace and harmony within societies. Rooted in communal living, these traditions emphasize dialogue, consensus-building, and reconciliation over punitive measures (Hook, 2012). Elders and community leaders, who are highly respected for their wisdom and experience, often mediate conflicts through structured discussions known as palaver or council meetings, ensuring that all parties are heard and that justice is served fairly. Restorative justice, a fundamental aspect of African conflict resolution, prioritizes repairing relationships and restoring social balance rather than focusing solely on punishment. Additionally, belief systems that emphasize interconnectedness, such as the philosophy of Ubuntu-which highlights shared

Commented [H23]: Note that the term results is mostly used in quantitative studies while the term research findings is more appropriate in qualitative studies. And your research is qualitative

humanity and collective responsibility promote forgiveness and reintegration rather than division and retaliation. Chitondo & Chanda (2023) added that rituals, customary laws, and symbolic peace agreements, such as the exchange of gifts or communal feasts, further solidify reconciliation efforts and prevent disputes from resurfacing. By embedding conflict resolution mechanisms within cultural and spiritual frameworks, African societies create sustainable peace models that are deeply ingrained in their social fabric, reducing the likelihood of recurring disputes.

Additionally, restorative justice, deeply rooted in African traditional values, practices, and belief systems, plays a significant role in promoting healing and reconciliation within African societies. Gilmartin (2009) noted that unlike punitive justice systems that focus on retribution, restorative justice emphasizes repairing harm, restoring relationships, and reintegrating individuals into their communities. African indigenous conflict resolution mechanisms, such as village elders' mediation, truth-telling forums, and communal dialogues, prioritize collective responsibility and reconciliation over individual punishment. Traditional African societies have long upheld values such as Ubuntu, which underscores compassion, empathy, and interconnectedness, fostering a culture of forgiveness and harmony. Practices like cleansing rituals, compensation, and public apologies serve as mechanisms for rebuilding trust and ensuring social cohesion. Additionally, Chanda & Chitondo (2023) stated that belief systems that emphasize ancestral guidance and spiritual reconciliation reinforce the moral obligation to restore balance and unity after conflicts. By integrating these traditional approaches into modern justice systems, African societies can create more inclusive, culturally relevant methods for addressing disputes, fostering long-term peace, and strengthening communal ties.

Traditional leaders pointed out that the African traditional values, practices, and belief systems play a crucial role in preserving social harmony by emphasizing communal living, respect for elders, conflict resolution, and moral responsibility. One of the leaders expressed that:

“Rooted in the principles of “Ubuntu”, which promotes interconnectedness and mutual respect, African societies prioritize collective well-being over individual gain. Traditional conflict resolution mechanisms, such as mediation by elders and community councils, help maintain peace by fostering dialogue and reconciliation rather than punitive measures. Rituals, ceremonies, and customary laws also reinforce societal norms and values, ensuring that individuals adhere to behaviors that promote unity and cooperation.”²² *Interview conducted in (exact place) with (the person e.g a woman of about 30 years) on (the date). Note that this information can also go to the foot note.*

Additionally, belief systems that emphasize ancestral reverence and spiritual accountability instill a sense of moral duty, discouraging actions that could disrupt social cohesion. By upholding these traditions, African societies create a strong sense of identity, belonging, and stability, ultimately fostering peace and harmony within communities.

The findings also revealed that communal dialogue plays a crucial role in strengthening social bonds and fostering peace and harmony within African societies, deeply rooted in traditional values, practices, and belief systems. African cultures emphasize collective decision-making, conflict resolution, and consensus-building through structured discussions led by elders, chiefs, or community leaders (UN, 2015). These dialogues serve as platforms for addressing social concerns, resolving disputes, and reinforcing communal unity. Traditional African belief systems

Commented [H24]: All of this is actually part of the existing/relevant literature and it has already been conducted. repeating it here without clearly substantiating with the research findings poses a serious technical and methodological problem. Please consider revising

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Commented [H25]: OK. But you needed to start with this findings before linking it to the relevant literature and not the other way around.

Commented [H26]: Kindly adjust this quote as the one I have adjusted above. Not also that you have to remove the italics and the “...” and the font size has to be 10 and not 12.

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

view harmony as essential to societal well-being, encouraging respect, reconciliation, and restorative justice rather than punitive measures. Practices such as palaver (open discussions), truth-telling ceremonies, and intergenerational storytelling further instill values of cooperation and mutual understanding. Additionally, rituals and customary gatherings provide spaces for reaffirming shared identity and cultural continuity, ensuring that younger generations inherit and uphold the principles of unity and coexistence. By promoting inclusivity and social cohesion, communal dialogue remains a powerful mechanism for maintaining peace, resolving conflicts, and strengthening relationships within African communities, demonstrating the enduring significance of indigenous knowledge and customs in contemporary society (Asaju, 2023).

Furthermore, African traditional values, practices, and belief systems play a crucial role in fostering long-term stability by promoting peace, unity, and social cohesion within societies. Rooted in communal living, these values emphasize the importance of mutual respect, dialogue, and conflict resolution through traditional mechanisms such as elder mediation and consensus-building (Chanda et al., 2024b). The emphasis on collective well-being over individual interests ensures that disputes are resolved in a manner that preserves harmony rather than deepening divisions. Practices such as Ubuntu, which stresses interconnectedness and human dignity, reinforce a shared sense of responsibility and cooperation among community members. Traditional belief systems also uphold moral codes that discourage actions that threaten stability, such as dishonesty, betrayal, and violence. Through customary laws, rituals, and cultural ceremonies, these systems instill respect for authority, encourage reconciliation, and nurture a spirit of forgiveness, all of which contribute to long-term peace and societal balance. By preserving these values amid modernization, African societies can maintain their resilience and stability in the face of social, economic, and political challenges.

The study findings also noted that African traditional values, practices, and belief systems play a significant role in promoting cultural resilience and fostering peace and harmony within African societies. Rooted in a deep respect for community, family, and social cohesion, these traditions often emphasize the importance of unity, mutual respect, and collective responsibility (Delmas & Nigel, 2011). One of the peace practitioners stated that:

"Values such as Ubuntu, which stresses interconnectedness and the well-being of others, encourage individuals to prioritize communal interests over personal gain. Traditional practices, such as conflict resolution mechanisms like mediation and dialogue, are integral in addressing disputes within communities, promoting reconciliation and understanding" *interview conducted in (exact place) with (the person e.g a woman of about 30 years) on (the date). Note that this information can also go to the foot note.*

Hopkins (2008) added that these practices help to prevent violent conflict by encouraging peaceful resolutions based on respect for all parties involved. Additionally, African belief systems often link spiritual and social life, offering moral guidance that underpins harmonious living, spiritual balance, and mutual support. As a result, the preservation and practice of African cultural values and beliefs not only strengthen community bonds but also contribute to long-term peace building by nurturing respect for diversity, promoting inclusivity, and maintaining social stability.

Moreover, in many African communities, decision-making is often a collective process, rooted in the idea of communalism and shared responsibility. Chanda (2023) supported this finding by stating that elders, spiritual leaders, and various community members engage in dialogue to reach decisions that serve the collective good. This participatory approach ensures that all voices,

Commented [H27]: Kindly adjust this quote as the one I have adjusted above. Not also that you have to remove the italics and the "..." and the font size has to be 10 and not 12.

especially those of marginalized groups such as women, youth, and minority communities, are heard, promoting social cohesion and inclusivity. Additionally, African belief systems often emphasize respect for individuals and the community, which creates a sense of duty toward maintaining harmony and resolving conflicts peacefully. Traditional rituals, ceremonies, and practices, such as the use of councils or community assemblies, reinforce the importance of consensus-building, dialogue, and respect for diverse opinions, further strengthening the foundation for peaceful coexistence. By valuing collaboration and consensus over confrontation, African traditional values contribute to long-standing mechanisms of conflict prevention and resolution, supporting peace and harmony within societies (Cárdenas, 2022).

3.2. The Potential of Integrating African Traditions ~~with-in~~ Contemporary Peace Building ~~conflict resolution Frameworks processes to Create-enable~~ Sustainable Solutions for Conflict Resolution ~~Peace in Modern African Contexts Societies~~

The findings revealed that the integration ~~ing~~ of African traditions with contemporary ~~peace building frameworks conflict resolution mechanisms~~ can be a powerful approach to ~~creating sustainable solutions for conflict resolution sustainable peace in modern African contexts societies~~. African traditional conflict resolution mechanisms have long been based on values such as community, dialogue, reconciliation, and the restoration of relationships. Betts (2005) says that these mechanisms often emphasize collective decision-making, restorative justice, and the importance of elders and other respected community members in mediating disputes. The ~~respondents research participants~~ indicated that emphasizing dialogue and reconciliation as a means of integrating African traditions with contemporary peace building frameworks presents a viable approach to creating sustainable conflict resolution strategies in modern African contexts. Traditional African societies have long relied on communal dialogue, consensus-building, and restorative justice mechanisms to resolve disputes and maintain social harmony. Tamale (2020) revealed that these indigenous practices, which prioritize reconciliation over punitive measures, align with contemporary peace building efforts that advocate for inclusivity, participatory governance, and long-term stability. By integrating traditional wisdom with modern conflict resolution frameworks, African nations can develop more culturally relevant and effective solutions that address the root causes of conflict while fostering social cohesion (Burbank & Frederick, 2010). This approach not only strengthens local ownership of peace processes but also ensures that solutions are deeply rooted in African values, making them more sustainable in the long run. Moreover, incorporating traditional conflict resolution practices into modern governance structures can help bridge the gap between formal legal systems and customary justice mechanisms, thereby enhancing trust and legitimacy in peace building efforts. Ultimately, by emphasizing dialogue and reconciliation, African societies can harness their rich heritage to create resilient and adaptive frameworks for conflict resolution that promote lasting peace and development (Daniel & Dana, 2011).

Further, community-based approaches hold significant potential in integrating African traditions with contemporary peace-building frameworks to create sustainable solutions for conflict resolution in modern African contexts. One of the academicians' narrated that:

"In many African societies, the community plays a central role in resolving conflicts. Integrating community-driven approaches into contemporary peace building frameworks ensures that peace building efforts are locally owned, culturally relevant, and sustainable. This also involves

Commented [H28]: Support this with 1 or 2 interview quotes

empowering local actors, such as women, youth, and traditional leaders, to actively participate in peace building”.

Traditional African societies have long relied on communal decision-making, restorative justice, and consensus-building through mechanisms such as elders’ councils, community mediators, and customary dispute resolution processes. These indigenous methods emphasize reconciliation, healing, and social harmony rather than punitive justice, aligning closely with modern principles of transformative conflict resolution. By incorporating these traditional elements into contemporary peace-building efforts, communities can foster local ownership of conflict resolution processes, enhancing legitimacy and sustainability (Fukuyama, 2013). Additionally, blending African traditions with modern frameworks allows for more culturally relevant strategies that address the root causes of conflicts while adapting to contemporary socio-political realities. Engaging local leaders, religious figures, and women’s groups further strengthens peace efforts by ensuring inclusivity and leveraging trusted community networks. However, successful integration requires careful negotiation to balance tradition with human rights principles, particularly in cases where customary practices may conflict with modern legal frameworks. Through participatory dialogue, legal recognition of indigenous peace mechanisms, and capacity-building initiatives, African nations can develop hybrid conflict resolution models that bridge traditional wisdom with contemporary governance structures (Chitondo & Chanda, 2023b). Ultimately, leveraging community-based approaches in this manner enhances social cohesion, fosters sustainable peace, and strengthens resilience against recurring conflicts across the continent.

The study also found that spiritual and cultural resources play a crucial role in integrating African traditions ~~with~~ into contemporary peace-building frameworks to create sustainable solutions for conflict resolution in modern African contexts.

African societies have long relied on indigenous mechanisms such as mediation by elders, traditional healing practices, and communal reconciliation rituals to resolve disputes and restore social harmony. Ha (2010) added that these traditions emphasize restorative justice, dialogue, and consensus-building, aligning with modern peace-building principles that prioritize reconciliation over retribution. Additionally, African spirituality, rooted in ancestral reverence and moral ethics, fosters a sense of collective responsibility, unity, and respect for human dignity, which are essential values for sustainable peace. By integrating these traditional approaches with contemporary legal and institutional frameworks, a more holistic and culturally relevant conflict resolution strategy can be developed. This fusion can enhance the legitimacy and acceptance of peace initiatives, making them more effective in addressing conflicts rooted in historical grievances, ethnic divisions, and socio-political tensions. Furthermore, the use of traditional storytelling, proverbs, and music in peace education can reinforce values of tolerance, coexistence, and non-violence, ensuring that peace-building efforts resonate deeply with local communities (Ganesan, 2012). Recognizing and leveraging these spiritual and cultural resources can bridge the gap between indigenous knowledge systems and modern governance structures, leading to more inclusive, participatory, and enduring peace solutions in Africa.

Additionally, Traditional African conflict resolution mechanisms, such as community mediation by elders, restorative justice, and consensus-based decision-making, emphasize reconciliation and social harmony rather than punitive measures. These indigenous approaches, rooted in cultural values of unity and dialogue, can complement modern frameworks that focus on legal and institutional mechanisms for peace building (Augoustinos & Reynolds, 2001). By combining

Commented [H29]: Kindly adjust as earlier comments suggest

Commented [H30]: Support this finding with 1 or 2 interview quotes

these systems, African nations can develop more sustainable and contextually relevant strategies for conflict prevention, ensuring that solutions are not only legally sound but also socially accepted. One of the church leaders explained that:

“Traditional systems often emphasize the importance of preventing conflict before it escalates.

Contemporary peace building frameworks can integrate early warning systems, community-based monitoring, and local conflict prevention strategies to address tensions before they lead to violence”.

The integration of traditional dispute resolution techniques ~~with~~^{into} contemporary practices, such as early warning systems, inclusive governance, and human rights-based approaches, can enhance the effectiveness of peace initiatives by fostering trust and local ownership of conflict resolution processes. Additionally, leveraging indigenous knowledge systems can bridge the gap between state actors and local communities, reducing tensions and fostering a collaborative approach to peace (Isife & Agbanus, 2022). This hybrid model can be particularly effective in addressing conflicts rooted in ethnic, religious, and socio-political divisions by promoting culturally sensitive solutions that resonate with affected communities. Therefore, the potential of blending African traditions with modern peace-building methodologies lies in creating holistic, inclusive, and enduring frameworks for conflict prevention and resolution across the continent.

The results also showed that incorporating indigenous knowledge into contemporary peace-building frameworks presents a significant opportunity to integrate African traditions with modern conflict resolution strategies, fostering sustainable solutions in the African context. Traditional African societies have long relied on community-driven approaches such as mediation by elders, restorative justice, and consensus-building to resolve disputes and maintain social harmony (Zezeza, 2014). These practices emphasize reconciliation, collective responsibility, and the reintegration of individuals into the community rather than punitive measures, aligning with modern principles of restorative justice (Jabri, 2013). By integrating indigenous conflict resolution mechanisms with contemporary legal and diplomatic frameworks, African nations can create more culturally relevant and locally accepted peace-building models. This approach not only enhances the legitimacy of conflict resolution efforts but also ensures that solutions are deeply rooted in the values and social structures of the communities they serve. Furthermore, the inclusion of indigenous knowledge in peace-building initiatives empowers local actors, fosters intergenerational knowledge transfer, and promotes a more holistic understanding of peace and security. However, Kgatla (2017) expressed that for this integration to be effective, it requires institutional support, recognition of traditional leaders' roles, and policies that bridge the gap between customary and formal governance systems. By embracing indigenous knowledge as a core element of peace-building, African societies can develop resilient, context-specific strategies that address conflicts in a sustainable and culturally meaningful way.

Moreover, Sylvester & Antony (2014) explained that building trust and legitimacy in conflict resolution requires a deep understanding of both traditional African customs and contemporary peace building frameworks to develop sustainable solutions that resonate with local communities. African traditions emphasize communal decision-making, consensus-building, and respect for elders, which align with modern principles of restorative justice and participatory governance. By integrating these traditions into contemporary peace building efforts, legitimacy is reinforced as local populations see their cultural values reflected in conflict resolution processes (Price, 2008). Traditional authorities, such as chiefs and elders, often hold significant influence and can serve as mediators, bridging the gap between conflicting parties through

Commented [H31]: See earlier comments

culturally appropriate reconciliation methods. Additionally, storytelling, rituals, and customary negotiation practices can complement legal and institutional frameworks, fostering trust among stakeholders who may be skeptical of externally imposed solutions. However, for this integration to be effective, there must be a deliberate effort to balance indigenous practices with human rights principles, ensuring inclusivity and fairness. Reinhard & Kate (2011) also observed that the fusion of African traditions with modern peace building approaches can create resilient conflict resolution mechanisms that not only address immediate disputes but also strengthen social cohesion and prevent future conflicts. This approach ultimately promotes sustainable peace by embedding legitimacy within community-driven initiatives, enhancing the credibility of governance structures, and fostering long-term stability in modern African societies.

4. CONCLUSION

In conclusion, decolonizing peace in Africa demands a profound shift in how global communities understand and implement conflict resolution, recognizing that the indigenous wisdom of African traditions offers transformative insights for achieving lasting harmony. These traditions, deeply rooted in communal values, restorative justice, and the recognition of interconnectedness, challenge the often exclusionary frameworks imposed by colonial legacies. By embracing and integrating indigenous conflict resolution mechanisms such as consensus-building, mediation, and the reparation of relational ruptures, peace processes can become more inclusive, contextually relevant, and genuinely sustainable. African traditions emphasize healing over punishment and community-communalism over individualism, providing alternative models that not only mend historical wounds but also lay the groundwork for equitable and resilient societies. Ultimately, incorporating these time-honored practices into modern peace building initiatives can catalyze a transformative shift towards a world where love, social justice and unity prevail over hatred, divisiveness and historical inequities.

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

The following are actions that should be taken on the basis of the findings of this study;

- Integrating Indigenous Conflict Resolution Mechanisms into National Peace building Frameworks:**
 - Governments and peace building organizations should integrate the indigenous practices into formal legal and governance structures. This could involve creating hybrid justice systems that blend customary and modern legal frameworks to ensure culturally relevant, inclusive, and sustainable peace processes.
- Revitalizing African Communal Values in Education and Policy:**
 - Schools, universities, and civil society organizations should promote the communal values to cultivate a generation that prioritizes dialogue, cooperation, and collective well-being over adversarial approaches to conflict resolution.

REFERENCES

- Asaju, K. (2023). The University System, Social Change and Sustainable Development in Nigeria. *African Social Science and Humanities Journal (ASSHJ)*, 4(2), 86-103.

Commented [H32]: Again, you confirm my suggested reformulation of your topic.

Commented [H33]: This has to come just before your conclusion. This is because nothing should come after a conclusion except the Reference List, annex/appendix etc. This is not a technical paper to have recommendation after the conclusion it is a research paper so the conclusion comes last. Unless you decided to combine both the conclusion and Policy recommendations by Saying:

Conclusion and Recommendations
Or
Or Conclusion and Policy Implications

Or simply: Concluding Remarks.

But my advice is to have :

Policy Recommendations

Then

Conclusion.

- Augoustinos, M. & Reynolds, K. J. (2001). **Prejudice, Racism, and Social Psychology**. In M. Augoustinos & K. J. Reynolds (Eds.), *Understanding Prejudice, Racism and Social Conflict*, (pp. 1-23). London, England: SAGE.
- Betts, R. F. (2005). **Decolonization: A Brief History of Word in Els Bogaerts & Remeo Raben(eds.), The Decolonization of African and Asian Societies**, 1930s - 1970s, Brill.
- Butlin, R. A. (2009). **Geographies of Empire. European Empires and Colonies, c. 1880-1960**, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Burbank, J., & Frederick, C. (2010). **Empires in World History: Power and the Politics of Difference**. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Cárdenas, M. (2022). Why Peace Building is Condemned to Fail if it Ignores Ethnicization. The Case of Colombia. *Peace Building*, 1-20. <https://doi.org/10.1080/21647259.2022.2128583>.
- Chanda, C. T. (2023). The Teaching of Religious Education in Zambian Secondary Schools. *International Journal of Research Publication and Reviews*, Vol 4, no 12, pp 164-171, December 2023, Available: www.ijrpr.com, ISSN 2582-7421.
- Chanda, C. T., & Chisebe, S. (2024). Federalism and Decentralization: An African Perspective. *International Journal of Research Publication and Reviews*, Vol 5, no 5, pp 13383-13391, May 2024, Available: www.ijrpr.com, ISSN 2582-7421.
- Chanda, C. T., & Chitondo, L. (2023). Exploring the Interplay between Culture and Religion in African Countries: A Case of Zambia. *International Research Journal of Modernization in Engineering Technology and Science*, Volume 05, Issue 11, 3139-3148, November 2023, Available: www.irjmets.com, <https://doi.org/10.56726/IRJMETS46879>.
- Chanda, C. T., Phiri, E. V., Mwila, M. G., Chisebe, S., & Mulenga, D. M. (2024b). Conflict Resolution Mechanisms in Multi-ethnic Societies: A Case of Zambian Communities. *International Journal of Novel Research in Humanity and Social Sciences*, Vol 11, Issue 3, pp (38-49), May - June 2024. Available: www.noveltyjournals.com, <https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.11545032>, ISSN 2394-9694.
- Chanda, C. T., Phiri, E. V., Zohaib, H. S., Mwila, M. G., Shogbesan, Y. O., & Mulenga, D. M. (2024a). French Colonialism and Neocolonialism in Africa: A Comprehensive Analysis. *World Journal of Advanced Research and Reviews*, 23(03), 2062-2073, September 2024, Available: <https://wjarr.com/>, <https://doi.org/10.30574/wjarr.2024.23.3.2832>.
- Chinweuba, G. E., & Ezeugwu, E. C. (2018). "Culture and Change: A Critical Analysis of Igbo Cultural Alienation in Chinua Achebe's 'Things Fall Apart'", *Philosophia: Journal of Philosophy and Culture*, (19), 115-129.
- Chitondo, L., & Chanda, C. T. (2023). **Effects of Ethnic Diversity on the Development of a Country: A Case of Zambia**. www.ijcbss.org. ISSN: 2312-5985. Vol. 9, Issue. 5, 2023.
- Chitondo, L., Chanda, C. T., Mwila, M. G., & Madoda, D. (2024). The Paradox of a World Aspiring for Peace amidst Pervasive Conflicts. *International Journal of Research and Innovation in Social Science*, |Volume VIII, Issue II, 2471-2484, February 2024, Available: <http://www.rsinternational.org/>, <https://doi.org/10.47772/IJRISS.2024.802177>. ISSN 2454-6186.
- Chitondo, L., & Chanda, C. T. (2023b). Political Instability and Military Coups in Former French African Colonies. *International Journal of Novel Research in Humanity and Social Sciences*, Vol

Commented [H34]: Why the bold/highlighted title?

Commented [H35]: Same as above

Commented [H36]: This stands for what?

Commented [H37]: Note that book titles are written in italics

Commented [H38]: Same comments as above

Commented [H39]: Same comments as above

Formatted: Highlight

10, Issue 6, pp: (9-28), November - December 2023, Available: www.noveltyjournals.com, <https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.10370523>, SSN 2394-9694.

Chitondo, L., Chanda, C. T., & Mpolomoka, D. L. (2023). The Ongoing Influence of French Colonialism in Former African Colonies: A Comparative Analysis". *Global Scientific Journals*, Volume 11, Issue 11, 1020-1045, November 2023, Available: www.globalscientificjournals.com, Online: ISSN 2320-9186.

Crumley, G. (2009a). **Gabon's Rage at France's Influence in Africa**. Available at: <http://www.time.com/time/world/article/0.8599.1888097.00.html>. Accessed: 11th March 2011.

Daniel, R. B., & Dana, P. (2011). "Just war against Barbarians: Revisiting the Valladolid Debates between Sepúlveda and Las Casas." *Political Studies*, 59.3. 733-752.

Das, S. (2011). **Race, Empire and First World War Writing**. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Delmas, A., & Nigel, P. (2011). **Written Culture in a Colonial Context: Africa and the Americas, 100-1900**. Cape Town: UCT Press.

Englebert, P., & Dunn, K. C. (2013). **Inside African Politics**. Indiana University Press.

Fukuyama, F. (2013). **The Necessity of Politics in Essential Readings in Comparative Politics** 33. Patrick H. O'Neil and Ronald Rogowski eds.

Ganesan, V.B. (2012). "A French Colony that Fought the British." *The Hindu* ISSN 0971-751X. Archived from the Original on 28 February 2021. Retrieved 4 November 2017.

Gilmartin, M. (2009). *Colonialism/Imperialism. In Key Concepts in Political Geography*. London: SAGE pp. 115-123.

Ha, K. N. (2010). Integration as Colonial Pedagogy of Postcolonial Immigrants and People of Colour: A German Case Study. In E. Gutiérrez Rodríguez, M. Boacă & S. Costa (Eds.), *Decolonizing European sociology: Transdisciplinary Approaches* (pp. 161-177). <https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315576190>.

Hambulo, F., Muleya, G., & Letseka, M. (2023). Ubuntu as 'Public Policy' among the Tonga of Zambia's Southern Province. *International Journal of Social Science and Education Research Studies*, 3(10), 2137-2145. <https://www.researchgate.net/deref/https%3A%2F%2Fdoi.org%2F10.55677%2Fijssers%2FV03I10Y2023-23?tp=eyJjb250ZXh0Ijp7ImZpcnN0UGFnZSI6ImhvbWUiLCJwYWdlIjoicHVibGlicXRPb24iLCJwcmV2aW91c1BhZ2UiOiJwcm9maWxliiwicG9zaXRpb24iOiJwYWdlQ29udGVudCJ9fQ>

Hambulo, F., Muleya, G., & Letseka, M. (2023b). Ubuntu Morality as a Basis for the Promotion of Tonga Religious Beliefs in the High God-Leza and the Spirits-Mizimo. *International Journal of Social Science and Education Research Studies*. <https://www.researchgate.net/deref/https%3A%2F%2Fdoi.org%2F10.55677%2Fijssers%2FV03I10Y2023-24?tp=eyJjb250ZXh0Ijp7ImZpcnN0UGFnZSI6ImhvbWUiLCJwYWdlIjoicHVibGlicXRPb24iLCJwcmV2aW91c1BhZ2UiOiJwcm9maWxliiwicG9zaXRpb24iOiJwYWdlQ29udGVudCJ9fQ>

Happens, A.G., & Cain, P.J. (2016). **British Imperialism: 1688-2015**. Routledge.

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Font: Bold, Highlight

Commented [H40]: This is a book so title has to be in italics

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Commented [H41]: Same as above

Commented [H42]: Not appropriate

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Italic

Commented [H43]: Place of publication missing

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Italic

- Head, K., Mayer, T., & Ries, J. (2010). "The Erosion of Colonial Trade Linkages after Independence." *Journal of International Economics* 81 (1), pp. 1-14.
- Hogan, P. C. (2000). *Colonialism and Cultural Identity: Crises of Tradition in the Anglophone Literatures of India, Africa, and the Caribbean*, Albany: State University of New York Press.
- Holliday, I. (2012). *Burma Redux: Global Justice and the Quest for Political Reform in Myanmar*. Columbia University Press. ISBN_9780231504249. Archived from the original on 30 March 2021. Retrieved 12 November 2020.
- Hook, D. (2012). *A Critical Psychology of the Postcolonial: The Mind of Apartheid*. London, England: Routledge.
- Hopkins, A. G. (2008). **Rethinking Decolonization, Past and Present**. 200, 211-247.
- Isife, E. E., & Agbanus, A. (2022). Decolonization of African Mind through Indigenous Education: A Philosophical Proposal. *Nnandi Azikiwe Journal of Philosophy*, 13(1), 109-118.
- Jabri, V. (2013). Peace Building, the Local and the International: A Colonial or a Postcolonial Rationality? *Peace Building*, 1(1), 3-16. <https://doi.org/10.1080/21647259.2013.756253>.
- Kgatla, S. T. (2017). Decolonization of the Mind: Black Consciousness Community Projects by the Limpopo Council of Churches. *Missionalia*, 46(1/2), 146-162.
- Price, R. (2008). *Making Empire: Colonial Encounters and the Creation of Imperial Rule in Nineteenth Century Africa*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Reinhard, W., & Kate, S. (2011). *A Short History of Colonialism*, Manchester: Manchester University Press.
- Sylvester, O. A., & Antony, O. I. (2014). Decolonization in Africa and Pan-Africanism, *Journal of Administrative Sciences*, (12)23, 7-31.
- Tamale, S. (2020). *Decolonization and Afro-Feminism*, Ottawa, Daraja Press.
- United Nations. (2015). **Transforming our World**: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development.
- Zezeza, P. T. (2014). Africa's Struggles for Decolonization: From Achebe to Mandela. *Research in African Literature, in Simon Gikandis Slavery and Culture of Taste*, (45)4, 121-139.

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Italic

Commented [H44]: Not appropriate

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Italic

Formatted: Highlight